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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, )
| 88=-86T5
Plaintiff, ) o
)
v, ) COMPLAINT FOR
) INJUNCTIVE AND
VII VISIONARY INVESTMENTS, INC. d/b/a ) OTHER RELIEF OKS
HISTORIC HOTEL HOLDINGS, INC., RONA ) ;
OBSGARTEN, M & M HOLDING GROUP, IN@IVTNIIDDLEBRO
LEANDRO JAVIER OBENAUER, and
’ TE JUDGE
BRIAN LYNCH, HAGI JOFE
Defendants. )
)

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") alleges as follows:
1. The SEC brings this action to enjoin the Defendants from continuing to violate the
federal securities laws by misrepresenting to the public material facts concerning, among other
things, the assets and business operations of securities issuers. The SEC is also seeking to enjoin
certain Defendants from continuing to act as unregistered broker-dealers and from participating
in the offer and sale of unregistered securities.
DEFENDANTS

2. Defendant VII Visionary Investments, Inc. d/b/a/ Historic Hotel Holdings, Inc. (“HHH”),
of Lake Park, Florida, is the name defendant Ronald Obsgarten (“Obsgarten™) ultimately gave to
the resulting entity from a purported merger between Obsgarten’s private corporation, VII
Visionary Investments, Inc., and a shell company he acquired in the summer of 1997. Although

the merger and name change never became effective, the resulting company operated and issued

N



Case 9:98-cv-08675-DMM ( Document1l  Entered on FLSD Docket 09/28/1998 Page 2 of 17
{

stock under the name HHH. HHH’s stock, which has never been registered with the SEC, was
quoted in that name on the NASD’s OTC Bulletin Board.

3. Defendant Ronald Obsgarten, a resident of Boca Raton, Florida, was the president of
HHH at all relevant times.

4, Defendant M & M Holding Group, Inc. (“M&M”), a Florida corporation with offices in
Delray Beach, Florida, is the most recent of the several companies that defendant Leandro Javier
Obenauer (“Obenauer”) used to promote issuers and sell their stock. None of these entities has
ever been registered with the SEC as a broker or dealer.

5. Defendant Obenauer, a resident of Lake Worth, Florida, was the president of
M&M during all relevant times. During the relevant period, Obenauer was President of and
operated under the names Javier Investment Group, Inc. (“Javier Investment”), Javier Marketing
Group, Inc. (“Javier Marketing”), and M&M. Javier Investment and Javier Marketing were
administratively dissolved by the State of Florida in September 1997 for failing to file an annual
report.

6. Defendant Brian Lynch (“Lynch”), a resident of Massachusetts, assisted in
Obenauer’s promotional and selling activities.

OTHER

7. Futuristic Enterprises, Inc. (“Futuristic”), is a Florida corporation with its

principal place of business in Delray Beach, Florida. Futuristic was incorporated in April 1995

for the purpose of developing real estate in South Florida.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d) and
22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d) and 77v(a),
and Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15
U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa.

9. Certain of the acts and transactions constituting violations of the Securities Act
and the Exchange Act have occurred within the Southern District of Florida. The principal
offices of HHH and M&M are located within the Southern District of Florida. Obsgarten and
Obenauer reside within the Southern District of Florida. Lynch was residing and working in the
Southern District of Florida when he committed the acts and transactions alleged herein.

10.  Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means and instruments of transportation and
communication in interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts, practices, and
courses of business complained of herein.

ORIGINATION OF THE SCHEME

11. Obsgarten formed HHH (then known as VII Visionary Investments, Inc.
(“Visionary Investments”)) in July 1996, purportedly with the intention of acquiring the Harder
Hall Hotel, a registered landmark situated on 13 acres alongside Lake Jackson in Sebring,
Florida, renovating it, and establishing it as a profitable spa and medical facility.

12. Approximately three weeks later, Obsgarten retained Obenauer to provide
promotional and fund-raising services on behalf of HHH in exchange for cash and HHH stock.

Specifically, by a written “marketing consulting agreement” dated July 30, 1996, HHH agreed to
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pay Javier Investment a fee of $150,000 and an option to purchase one million shares of HHH
stock at ten cents per share in exchange for Javier Investment’s agreement to (1) provide
marketing and financial public relations services; (2) assist in the preparation of offering
memoranda; (3) assist in any marketing efforts in seeking to raise up to $10 million for various
projects; (4) introduce HHH to investment and security analysts; (5) assist in the drafting of press
releases; (6) introduce HHH to potential acquisition or merger candidates; (7) provide
management consulting services; and (8) assist in the preparation of due diligence packages.

13. On August 5, 1996, HHH, while still known as Visionary Investments, contracted
to purchase the Harder Hall Hotel for $2.1 million. One month later, on September 4, 1996,
Obenauer assisted Obsgarten in acquiring a controlling interest in an inactive shell corporation,
Coconut Grove Racers, Inc. (“CGRI”™), in exchange for the payment of $125,000. The merger
never became effective, nevertheless, HHH stock commenced public trading through the OTC
Bulletin Board on September 30, 1996.

FRAUDULENT PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES

14.  Between October 1996 and January 1997, HHH, Obsgarten and Obenauer primed
the market and solicited investors for HHH stock through promotional meetings, literature and
telephone solicitations. In the course of promoting the company, they made false and misleading
statements concerning HHH’s purported ownership of the Harder Hall Hotel; the use of investor
proceeds; the company’s corporate name; and purported negotiations with a potential lessee.
Obsgarten also made material misrepresentations concerning potential deals between HHH and

other corporations involved in the oil and gas industry.
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Misrepresentations Concerning Ownership of the

Harder Hall Hotel and the Use of Investor Proceeds

15.  HHH’s contract to purchase the Harder Hall Hotel for $2.1 million required the
company to make a $500,000 down payment within one month of the contract date. HHH made
a $100,000 initial payment shortly after the contract was signed with a second installment of
$400,000 due a month later. However, HHH did not have the financial wherewithal to make the
balance of the down payment. The company requested and received several extensions for the
$400,000 payment but never made any further payment.

16. Notwithstanding that HHH owed $2 million on its contract to purchase the hotel,
and was in default on the required down payment, Obsgarten and Obenauer repeatedly
represented to the investing public that HHH owned the hotel and was in the process of
renovating it. On October 17, 1996, Obsgarten and Obenauer conducted a public meeting in the
lobby of the Harder Hall Hotel in an attempt to generate investor interest in HHH. At this
meeting, Obsgarten and Obenauer stated that HHH owned the hotel, and provided potential
investors with a booklet that showed architectural plans illustrating the anticipated renovations to
the hotel and touting the hotel’s potential income.

17.  Individuals who attended the meeting put their names and telephone numbers in a
register book. After the meeting, Obenauer telephoned those people and solicited them to
purchase HHH stock.  During those telephone solicitations, Obenauer repeated the
misrepresentations concerning the ownership of the hotel as well as the business operations of
HHH. Later, Obenauer telephoned those individuals trying to get them to purchase more shares
of HHH stock and falsely represented that renovations to the hotel were almost complete and that

many of the rooms at the hotel had already been reserved for occupancy in the future.
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18.  In addition to the false claim that HHH owned the hotel, HHH issued a press
release on November 5, 1996, falsely claiming that it had commenced negotiations with a major
medical facility for the purposes of building and staffing an on-site surgical facility at the hotel.
In the press release, HHH falsely claimed that the medical facility would be able to lease out
40% of the guest rooms on a guaranteed 365 day term before the hotel even opened. The release
elaborated that a 60% occupancy rate would lead to over $18 million in gross revenues and $4
million in profits.

19.  During these fraudulent promotional efforts, HHH through Obsgarten, and
Obenauer, offered and sold HHH stock in a purported HHH private placement. Approximately
40 investors purchased $300,000 of HHH stock directly from the company in this offering. In
addition, Obenauer sold his own HHH stock to investors, for which he received approximately
$253,000. Obsgarten and Obenauer led investors to believe that their funds would be used to
renovate the Harder Hall Hotel. In fact, the intended use of the proceeds of the private placement
was to complete the shell company purchase, and to make the initial $100,000 down payment on
the hotel that investors had been told HHH already owned. Obenauer also intended to use the
proceeds from at least some HHH stock sales to personally enrich himself.

20. HHH’s common stock was a penny stock as defined by the Exchange Act and
rules promulgated thereunder at all times that Obenauer was selling it.

21. HHH and Obsgarten also materially misrepresented the name of the corporation
that issued the stock they were selling to investors. In the fall of 1996, at the time of the investor
and media attention surrounding Obsgarten’s stated plans to renovate the hotel, Obsgarten issued

HHH shares referring to HHH as “Historic Harder Hall, Inc.” This was the corporate name of
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the true owner of the hotel. HHH was never legally named “Historic Harder Hall, Inc.” To
investors, however, this had the effect of legitimizing HHH’s claim that it had acquired the hotel.

22. On January 13, 1997, after numerous contract extensions and after learning that
HHH was using their corporate name without authority, the owners of the Harder Hall Hotel
officially terminated the contract for sale of the hotel. The hotel owners also directed Obsgarten
to immediately cease and desist using the name “Historic Harder Hall, Inc.”

23.  On February 10, 1997, Obsgarten sent a letter to stockholders acknowledging for
the first time that the company did not in fact own the Harder Hall Hotel. He wrote that HHH
was only able to raise $300,000 from its private placement and that the company was unable to
comply with its contractual obligations for the purchase of the hotel. In the letter, however,
Obsgarten also claimed to be actively renegotiating with the owners of the hotel to complete the
purchase. Obsgarten reiterated this claim in a press article dated February 28, 1997, published in
a local newspaper in the town near the hotel, where many investors lived. In that article,
Obsgarten stated that he hoped to close a deal to purchase the hotel with a restructured
partnership within the following month and that he was confident that the purchase would take
place.

24.  The statements about renegotiations to purchase the hotel were false. The hotel’s
owner had only minimal contact with HHH after terminating HHH’s contract to buy the hotel,
and there was never any evidence that HHH would be able to come forward with the funds to

purchase the hotel.
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False Press Releases Concerning Deals Between HHH and
Corporations Involved in the Qil and Gas Industry

25.  From February to early April 1997, after all efforts to acquire the Harder Hall
Hotel had collapsed, Obsgarten purportedly tried to merge HHH with a company in the oil and
gas industry (the “Oil Company”). However, talks between HHH and the Oil Company never
reached beyond the discussion phase.

26. Despite the fact that discussions between HHH and the Oil Company never
advanced beyond preliminary stages, on February 25, 1997, Obsgarten issued a false press
release stating that HHH was going to acquire a Texas-based oil equipment manufacturing
company (the “Manufacturing Company™). On March 5, 1997, Obsgarten issued another false
press release entitled “Historic Hotel Holdings, Inc. to Acquire [the Oil Company],” which
announced that HHH had come to a “definitive agreement” to acquire the Oil Company, “which
owns one hundred percent of [the Manufacturing Company]” In fact, HHH never came to an
agreement to acquire the Oil Company, nor did the Oil Company own the Manufacturing
Company.

PROMOTIONAL CAMPAIGN’S EFFECT ON MARKET FOR HHH STOCK

27. The HHH promotional campaign generated substantial media interest in the
Central Florida area near the hotel. The company and its plans to renovate the Harder Hall Hotel
were featured in newspaper stories. The news media reported that Obsgarten, as the new
purchaser of the hotel, planned to invest $10-$12 million in the hotel in order to transform it into
a first-class hotel and spa. The news reports also focused on the company as a prospective

investment and quoted company officials inviting investment in HHH stock. One newspaper



Case 9:98-cv-08675-DMM ( Document1l  Entered on FLSD Docket 09/28/1998 Page 9 of 17

story, which discussed the investor meeting, was entitled “Stock Offered in Historic Harder
Hall.” Another article was entitled “Locals invited today to invest in Harder Hall.”

28. The promotional efforts also had a direct impact on the market price of HHH
stock. In the October through December 1996 period, during which there was much publicity
about the refurbishing of the hotel and negotiations to build an on-site surgical facility, the price
of HHH stock reached as high as $4.12 per share. Because there was no public information
about HHH other than the fraudulent statements made by HHH, Obsgarten, and Obenauer, the
inflated price of HHH stock was the result of their efforts. During the time of the promotional
efforts, Obenauer was selling his HHH stock to members of the public, at artificially inflated
prices he had substantially assisted in creating.

29.  In January and early February 1997, after the owner of the hotel terminated its
purchase contract with HHH, the stock declined to as low as $.05 per share.

30.  After its business relationship with HHH ended, M&M and Obenauer entered into
an agreement with Futuristic, a company that planned to build high priced condominiums in
West Palm Beach, Florida. M&M’s agreement with Futuristic was very similar to the one
Obenauer had previously signed with HHH. In the Futuristic agreement, in exchange for a fee of
$150,000 and an option to purchase 2 million shares of Futuristic stock at $.001 per share, M&M
and Obenauer promised to (1) optimize Futuristic’s capital structure; (2) prepare documents
necessary for obtaining funds; (3) locate a public shell corporation; (4) prepare due diligence
materials; (5) arrange due diligence meetings with financial institutions and investment bankers;

(6) conduct shareholder relations; (7) examine potential merger or acquisition candidates; (8)
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look for market makers; (9) conduct public relations activities; and (10) seek lenders to help
Futuristic procure an $8 million construction loan.

31.  From approximately January to June 1997, M&M, through Obenauer and Lynch,
prepared advertisements and solicited investors to purchase stock in Futuristic. Among other
things, Obenauer and Lynch engaged in an aggressive campaign of calling potential investors
who had responded to advertisements or who had previously invested in HHH. In these
telephone calls, Obenauer and Lynch misrepresented to investors that Futuristic already owned
the land on which it was supposedly building a condominium. They also falsely told investors
that Futuristic had obtained a $12,500,000 loan for the construction of a condominium and sent
investors a forged letter concerning that loan.

32. From approximately January to June, 1997, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch
fraudulently offered and sold stock purportedly issued by Futuristic in a private placement.
Obenauer, with Lynch’s knowledge, created fictitious Futuristic stock certificates, which he
caused to be delivered to investors while keeping their funds for himself. Obenauer did not

provide to Futuristic the funds he raised from investors, but instead kept these funds for himself.

COUNTI
Fraud in Violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933

33.  The SEC repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 32 of the Complaint.
34.  Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch directly and indirectly,

by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or

10
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by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as described herein, have been, knowingly,
willfully or recklessly employing devices, schemes or artifices to defraud.

35. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and
Lynch, directly and indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate

Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1).

COUNTII
Fraud in Violation of Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933

36.  The SEC repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 35 of its Complaint.

37. Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch, directly and
indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce or by the use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as described herein, have
been: (i) obtaining money or property by means of untrue statements of material facts and
omissions to state material facts necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (ii) engaging in transactions,
practices and courses of business which are now operating and will operate as a fraud or deceit
upon purchasers and prospective purchasers of such securities.

38. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and
Lynch, directly and indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate

Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77(q)(a)(2) and 77(q)(a)(3).

11
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COUNT 111

Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder

39.  The SEC repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 38 of its Complaint.

40. Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch, directly and
indirectly, by use of the means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of
any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of the
securities, as described herein, has been, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employing
devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material facts and
omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaging in acts, practices
and courses of business which have operated, are now operating and will operate as a fraud upon
the purchasers of such securities.

41. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and
Lynch, directly and indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5,

thereunder.

COUNT IV
Violati f Section 15(a)(1) of the Excl !

42.  The SEC repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41 of its Complaint.
43. Defendants M&M, Obenauer, and Lynch directly and indirectly, by use of the

means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails, have each engaged in the

12
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business of effecting transactions in securities for the accounts of others and have induced and
effected the purchase and sale of securities while not themselves registered with the SEC in
accordance with the provisions of Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act, or while not associated
with a broker-dealer that was so registered.

44, By reason of the foregoing, Defendants M&M, Obenauer and Lynch, directly and
indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 15(a)(1) of the

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(1).

COUNT YV
Violati { Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities 2

45. The SEC repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 44 of its Complaint.
46.  No registration statement was filed or in effect with the SEC pursuant to the
Securities Act with respect to the securities and transactions described herein.
47.  Defendant Obenauer directly or indirectly, has:
(a) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities as described herein,
through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise; or
(b) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the
use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise, as described herein,
without a registration statement having been filed or being in effect with the SEC as to such

securities.

13
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48. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Obenauer, directly and indirectly, has
violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities

Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77¢(c).

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court:
L
Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine and find that Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and

Lynch committed the violations of the federal securities laws alleged herein.
IL.

A. Issue a Permanent Injunction, enjoining Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M,
Obenauer and Lynch, their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in
active concert or participation with them, and each of them, from violating: (a) Section 17(a)(1)
of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a); (b) Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act,
15 U.S.C. §§ 77(q)(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3); and (c) Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §
78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5, thereunder.

B. Issue a Permanent Injunction, enjoining Defendants M&M, Obenauer and Lynch,
their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or
participation with them, and each of them, from violating Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act,

15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(1).

14
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C. Issue a Permanent Injunction, enjoining Defendant Obenauer, his officers, agents,
servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with him, and
each of them, from violating Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a)
and 77e(c).

IIL.
Disgorgement

Issue an Order requiring Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch, to
disgorge all ill-gotten profits or proceeds that they have received as a result of the acts and/or
courses of conduct complained of herein, with prejudgment interest.

IV.
Penalties

Issue an Order directing Defendants HHH, Obsgarten, M&M, Obenauer and Lynch to
pay a civil money penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and
Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78(d)(3).

V.
Further Relief
Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
VL
R ion_of Jurisdicti
Further, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this action in

order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may hereby be entered,

15
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or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the SEC for additional relief within the
jurisdiction of this Court.

Respectfully submitted,

September<.3, 1998 /
Mitchell E. Herr
Regional Trial Counsel

SD Fla. A-5500-259

Glenn S. Gordon
Assistant Regional Director
Florida Bar No. 0052744

Jon B. Jordan
Senior Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0026670

Attorneys for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

COMMISSION

1401 Brickell Avenue, Suite 200

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone:  (305) 982-6353
(Jordan)

Facsimile: (305) 536-7465
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VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE US CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE
DO NOT CITE JURISDICTIONAL STATUTES UNLESS DIVERSITY)

15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a) (2)& 77q(a)(3), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), 17 C.F.R. §
NGO AL 240.10b-5, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(1), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c). Violations of the

Vii. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTIO'; N ly f demanded in complait
COMPLAINT. O UNDERFRC.P 23 Perm. Inj., Disgorgment4URY DEMAND: oves KN
P .
VII.RELATED CASE(S) (See mstructions). enalties
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